IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

Case No. 83463

Electronically Filed Feb 07 2022 11:03 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown

COMSTOCK RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION Clerk of Supreme Court AND JOE MCCARTHY,

Appellants,

VS.

LYON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS; AND COMSTOCK MINING INCORPORATED,

Respondents.

Appeal From Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JOHN L. MARSHALL (#6733) 570 Marsh Avenue Reno, NV 89509 775-303-4882 johnladuemarshall@gmail.com

LEONARD LAW, PC
Debbie Leonard (#8260)
955 S. Virginia St., Suite #220, Reno, NV 89502
775-964-4656
debbie@leonardlawpc.com

Attorneys for Appellants

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Plaintiffs/Appellants Comstock Residents Association and Joe McCarthy (collectively "Citizens") appeal from the District Court's July 30, 2021 Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees ("Fees Order"). Joint Appendix ("JA"), 7:1685. The Fees Order awarded Defendants/Respondents Lyon County Board of County Commissioners ("Lyon County") and Comstock Mining Incorporated (the "Mining Company") a total of \$253,151.47 in attorneys' fees. The Fees Order is appealable order under NRAP 3A(b)(8) as a special order entered after final judgment. Notice of Entry of the Fees Order was filed on August 4, 2021. JA 7:1687. Citizens' Notice of Appeal was timely filed on September 1, 2021. JA 7:1691. Appellate jurisdiction therefore exists. *See* NRAP 4(a)(1).

ROUTING STATEMENT

Although this case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(7), Citizens submit that the Supreme Court should retain this appeal for the following reasons:

(1) Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12), the principal issues raised by this appeal are of statewide public importance. The Fees Order imposed significant fees without statutory authority, findings, or substantial evidence of frivolousness, and in a

¹ Prior to this appeal, all parties stipulated to dismiss Plaintiff Gayle Sherman. The District Court has not acted upon that stipulation.

² Citation to the Joint Appendix shall be to "JA volume:page."

manner that would effectively suppress adversely affected public citizens from bringing reasonable petitions for judicial review of local government actions.

- (2) Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11), this appeal raises issues of first impression under NRS 18.010 and NRS 278.0237 regarding the award of attorneys' fees in land use cases, particularly the exposure of citizens groups seeking judicial review of their government's decisions.
- (3) The Supreme Court retained jurisdiction in the previous two appeals in this matter (as well as the related Public Records Act case in which Citizens prevailed), and continuity in review would be helpful to the resolution of the issues. See December 2, 2016 Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part, and Remanding, Comstock Residents Association et al. v. Lyon County, et al., Supreme Court Case No. 68433 ("CRA I Order") (Document No. 16-37327); January 11, 2021 Order of Affirmance, Comstock Residents Association, et al. v. Lyon County, et al., Supreme Court Case No. 79445 ("CRA II Order") (Document No. 21-00718); Comstock Residents Association, et al. v. Lyon County, 134 Nev. 142, 414 P.3d 318 (2018) ("Public Records Act case").

Citizens submit that the foregoing reasons warrant Supreme Court review of this appeal as well.

ISSUES PRESENTED

The entire analytical portion of District Court's two-page Fees Order reads: "The Affidavits on file demonstrate that the fees requested are reasonable under standards set forth in *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 349, P.2d 31, 33 (1969). The Court, therefore, finds that all fees requested must be awarded under NS [*sic*] 18.010 and NRS 278.0237." JA 7:1685.

The issues on appeal are:

- (1) Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law when it awarded fees to the Defendants pursuant to NRS 278.0237 when the plain language of that statute limits a fee award to plaintiffs in cases brought under NRS 278.0233, which this case is not;
- (2) Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion when it concluded, without engaging in any analysis or making any findings, that Defendants were entitled to fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b); and
- (3) Whether the District Court abused its discretion when it awarded the total amount of fees requested by Defendants without making **any** *Brunzell* findings and without the necessary evidence to review the reasonableness of Defendants' request.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Local citizens brought this action to challenge the approval by Lyon County of the Mining Company's application to change long-standing land use designations of property the Mining Company controlled, in and adjacent to Silver City. The Mining Company sought to conduct its mining activities adjacent to residential neighborhoods. Although the County had rejected such a proposal several times before and, for forty years, maintained a Master Plan that prohibited mining in the locations requested by the Mining Company, after improper communications and relationships between the Mining Company and various County Commissioners, the County approved a change in land use designations to allow for the Mining Company's proposed operation.

Citizens sued Lyon County and the Mining Company alleging the approval was arbitrary, capricious, or otherwise contrary to law. Citizens' petition for judicial review ("PJR") consisted of an abuse of discretion claim and claims that Lyon County's violated the Nevada Open Meeting Law (NRS Chapter 241) ("OML claim") and Citizens' due process rights ("Due Process claim"). *See* JA 1:1-35.

In this case's first trip to the Supreme Court following the district court's dismissal of Citizens' claims and denial of the abuse of discretion and NRS 278.220 claims, Citizens prevailed, in part, and the Court remanded for further proceedings on the Due Process Claim. *CRA I*. After the district court entered judgment against

Citizens on the merits on the Due Process claim, Citizens appealed again, with two justices dissenting from the en banc Court's affirmance. *CRA II*.

Following remittitur, the District Court entered the Fees Order awarding Lyon County and the Mining Company \$253,151.47 in attorneys' fees. This is an appeal from the Fees Order. Citizens set forth in some detail the factual background of the underlying case to demonstrate the reasonableness of their claims such that the Fees Order was an abuse of discretion under NRS 18.010(b)(2).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. For Forty Years, The County's Master Plan And Zoning
Designations Prohibited Mining Operations Such As the Mining
Company's Near Residential Areas Of Silver City

The Mining Company controls mining patents in the historic Comstock lode, which was discovered in 1859. JA 1:0197. Starting in 1971 and extending until 2014, the Lyon County Board of County Commissioners repeatedly exercised its discretion to affirm master plan and zoning designations for property in and adjacent to Silver City to preclude mining near residential areas and avoid the possibility of adjacent incompatible uses. JA 1:0198-0209; JA 4:0855. In 1971, Lyon County adopted its initial Master Plan that contained policies separating the existing Silver City neighborhood from extractive industrial uses such as mining. JA 1:0198-0199.

In 1986, Nevex Corporation, a mining company, sought to change the 1971 master plan and zoning designations. JA 1:200. Lyon County rejected Nevex's

applications, finding that the proposed changes (which were the same changes the Mining Company sought in 2014) were expressly contrary to the master plan that was then in effect. Notably, that master plan had substantially weaker protections for Silver City against possible mining activities than the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan in affect in 2013 when the Mining Company filed its application. *See generally* JA 1:0200; 2:0306-0368.

In 1990, Lyon County adopted a new Master Plan that maintained the same master plan and zoning designations separating Silver City residential areas from mining uses that had been the basis for its rejection of the Nevex application. JA 1:0200-0201. In 2002, Lyon County developed and adopted a West Central Land Use Plan that covered Silver City. JA 1:0203-0203. This plan again maintained the land use designations and zoning to prohibit mining and added specific restrictions to protect Silver City residents from earth disturbing activities and visual scarring caused by above-ground mining. *Id*.

In 2010, Lyon County undertook a comprehensive effort to update its countywide master plan. JA 1:0203-0209. During the adoption process for the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan, the Mining Company asked the County to change the master plan and zoning designations. JA 4:0764-0767. The County refused and adopted the 2010 Comprehensive Master Plan without the Mining Company's requested changes. JA 4:0769-0770. The adopted 2010 Master Plan maintained the

same land use designations and zoning for Silver City and heightened protections for residents against adjacent mining activities that had existed for the previous 40 years. JA 1:0203-0209.

B. After Unsuccessfully Seeking Changes During Lyon County's Master Planning Process, the Mining Company Set Out To Gain Supporters On The County Commission By Giving Financial Incentives To Commissioners

Given these prior actions of the County Commissioners adverse to its interests, to conduct mining activities in and adjacent to Silver City, the Mining Company would need a change in the County Commission's orientation. It set out to accomplish that.

1. Commissioner Keller Became Financially Dependent On Multiple No-Bid Contracts Between The Mining Company And Her Family Businesses

In January 2011, Vida Keller replaced Commissioner Larry McPherson on the County Commission. Early that year, the Mining Company invited Vida and her husband Scott Keller, as well as other local elected officials, to tour the Mining Company's mining operations. JA 5:1028-1029. According to Scott Keller, the tour included the historic Dayton mine buildings. JA 5:1135. During that tour, Scott Keller made a comment that a building looked unsafe and work should be done to stabilize it. JA 5:1029-1030. Thereafter, the Mining Company reached out to Scott to hire him to work on the stabilization of the Dayton mine structures. JA 5:1031; JA 5:1137.

To facilitate payment for the work, Scott negotiated a contract between the Mining Company and his brother Rick Keller's (i.e., Vida's brother-in-law) construction company, Priceless Construction. *Id.*; 5:1250-6:1251. The contract did not undergo a competitive bidding process. JA 5:1031. Scott Keller then was hired by his brother to perform work under this contract with the Mining Company. JA 5:1137. Scott Keller's work under the Mining Company-Priceless Construction contract was completed in 2011.

At the conclusion of the one-year contract, to continue its financial ties with the Kellers, the Mining Company again affirmatively reached out to Scott to perform additional work on the Mining Company's property. JA 5:1138-1140. At that time, Vida and Scott owned several businesses, including Priceless Realty, a real estate agency under which Vida worked as a licensed real estate agent, and Keller Construction/ Consulting, a mobile home repair business. *See* JA 5:1009-1012.

The couple jointly contributed to performing the work for the family businesses: Scott performed the physical labor and Vida kept the books and did the invoicing, taxes, etc. JA 5:1138-1139. The Kellers used the same contact information and billing addresses for their personal use and all their businesses. *Id*.

On January 1, 2012, the Mining Company entered a no-bid retainer contract with Priceless Realty. JA 3:0824-826. Under this contract, the Mining Company paid the Kellers' company \$5,000 per month to be available for consultant services and a

bonus equal to 5% of any construction contracts managed by Priceless Realty. *Id*. No minimum hours of work were required or were actually billed, nor were specific tasks identified in the contract. JA 5:1140-1141. The Mining Company paid the Kellers' company \$60,000 over the course of the year-long Priceless Realty contract. JA 6:1277.

With its master plan and zone change application on the near horizon (formally filed with the County several months later), the Mining Company entered into another no-bid contract, this time with another of the Keller's businesses, "Keller Consulting" company. JA 5:1100-1101. Under this May 1, 2013 contract, the Mining Company paid the Kellers' business \$7,083 per month to be available for consultant services – which was \$2,083 more per month than the prior contract. *Id.* When asked why the Mining Company agreed to a 40 percent increase for the same services, Scott Keller testified that he simply "wanted more money" and the Mining Company complied. JA 5:1148. The Mining Company paid the Kellers over \$212,000 under this contract. JA 5:1171.

In October of 2013, after having awarded Commissioner Keller's company this lucrative contract, the Mining Company applied to Lyon County to change the master plan and zoning designations to allow mining use on the property in and adjacent to Silver City. *See* JA 4:0900, *et seq*. By the time Commissioner Keller considered, deliberated, and acted upon the Mining Company's land use

applications, the Mining Company had paid Commissioner Keller's companies hundreds of thousands of dollars. JA 5:1171; 6:1277.

Moreover, the Kellers had become dependent upon the Mining Company's payments to meet the family's financial needs. JA 5:1007-1008; 1017-1018. During that period, Commissioner Keller was caring for her sick mother and had taken over care and responsibility for her mother and grandchildren. *Id.* Because of these family obligations, Commissioner Keller testified, she ceased all activity as a real estate agent. JA 5:1017. As a result, the Kellers received income from only two sources while the Mining Company was seeking permission from the County Commission to allow mining uses on its property: (1) Lyon County – Commissioner Keller's part-time salary of approximately \$26,000, and (2) the Mining Company – via the Priceless Realty and Keller Consulting contracts worth \$80,000 annually. JA 5:1017-1018.

Even with the income from the Mining Company, the Kellers could not pay their bills at the time the Mining Company's application came before the Commission. JA 5:1021-1022, 1024. Commissioner Keller decided not to pay her property tax bills to the very County that she had been elected to serve and fell into arrears. *Id*.

2. The Mining Company Gave Record-Level Contributions To Commissioner Hastings' Campaign

With Commissioner Keller's businesses under contract, the Mining Company pivoted to replacing the commissioner who represented the district that encompassed Silver City and had opposed the Mining Company's proposed land use changes. In 2012, Bob Hastings ran against incumbent Commissioner Chuck Roberts for the district representing, *inter alia*, Silver City. During the race, the Mining Company and its related companies contributed \$17,500 in cash to Hastings to aid his election. JA 4:0782-0783. The Mining Company's contributions constituted more than 60 percent of the cash given to Commissioner Hastings that year and dwarfed any other single contributor. *Id*.

The average Lyon County Commission candidate from 2008 to 2012 raised a little more than \$7,000. The Mining Company's contributions to Commissioner Hastings alone exceeded the totals for seven out of ten candidates from 2008-2014 and were twice the total raised by any candidate in 2016, even when including inkind contributions. *Id.* Commissioner Hastings was dependent on the Mining Company's contributions to match and exceed his opponent's fundraising in the November 2012 race. *Id.* Hastings defeated Roberts in the election for District I Commissioner and was seated shortly thereafter. *Id.*

3. Commissioners Hastings And Keller Interjected Themselves Into Planning Staff's Review Of The Mining Company's Applications To Benefit The Mining Company

During Lyon County's consideration of the Mining Company's land use application, Commissioners Hastings and Keller actively promoted the Mining Company's interests and sought to influence planning staff's review of the Mining Company's applications. Commissioner Hastings, for example, contacted Rob Loveberg, head of the Lyon County Planning Department, regarding the Mining Company's application and the staff report and recommendation that Mr. Loveberg was drafting. JA 4:0935. Commissioner Hastings reported to Mr. Loveberg that the Mining Company was "intense" and concerned that the staff report might be negative. *Id.* According to Commissioner Hastings, even a staff report based on facts would "not calm [the Mining Company] nerves."

Commissioner Hastings specifically asked Mr. Loveberg whether the report would be negative or recommend a denial. *Id.* Mr. Loveberg responded that he had not finished the report but intended to submit a balanced one. *Id.* Commissioner Hastings then forwarded Mr. Loveberg's response to Commissioner Keller and asked for her thoughts. *Id.* Commissioner Hastings subsequently discussed Mr. Loveberg's approach with Commissioner Keller. *Id.*

Commissioner Hastings also forwarded the internal email from Mr. Loveberg to the Mining Company's Chief Executive Officer Corrado DeGasperis. JA 4:0938.

Noting the pressure he was going to bring to bear on Mr. Loveberg, Commissioner Hastings stated that he "will be discussing this matter further with Jeff Page," who was the County Manager and Mr. Loveberg's supervisor. JA 4:0938. In this email to the Mining Company's CEO, Commissioner Hastings assured the company he would take care of its interests: "I want to make sure that Rob [Loveberg] understands that concerns we have and Jeff amy [sic] be the conduit we need." Id. (emphases added.) Commissioner Hastings' use of the word "we" in this email establishes that he viewed his interests as aligned and coextensive with those of the Mining Company's and therefore biased.

Commissioner Hastings also coordinated with the Mining Company on gathering information on Citizens, strategizing for hearings before the Planning Commission and even recruiting witnesses to testify on the company's behalf. JA 4:0940 (Commissioner Hastings email to the Mining Company regarding potential witness to testify on the Mining Company's behalf); JA 4:0968 (Commissioner Hastings email to the Mining Company ("Do we know or is there a way to get a list of CRA members?")(emphasis added); JA 4:0945 (Mining Company email to Commissioner Hastings setting up strategy call for Planning Commission meeting: "Let's talk tomorrow about the upcoming LC Planning meeting. I will fill you in.").

Notwithstanding this interference, the Lyon County professional planning staff exhaustively reviewed the Mining Company's application, issued in-depth

reports, and recommended that the Mining Company's application be denied. 4:0849-0883, 4:0864 ("Staff recommends denial of the requested master plan amendments based on the guidance provided by the Comprehensive Master Plan, County-wide Component, including the adopted Land Use Plan, the majority of applicable goals, policies and strategies, Silver City's unique and historic character, and the County's lengthy, consistent master plan record of land use planning for Silver City."). On December 10, 2013, the Lyon County Planning Commission voted 5-to-1 to recommend that the County Commissioners deny the Mining Company's application. JA 4:0789-0790.

On December 20, 2013, Citizens objected to Commissioners Keller and Hastings' participation in the consideration, deliberation, and decision on the Mining Company's application because of their financial ties to and demonstrable bias in favor of the Mining Company. JA 4:0958-0960. Notwithstanding Citizens' objection, Commissioners Keller and Hastings not only failed to recuse but, to the contrary, intensified their involvement with the Mining Company's application by actively promoting a behind-the-scenes last-minute "compromise" to guarantee a vote to overturn the Planning Commission's action.

Commissioner Keller herself in the month leading up to the hearing had multiple telephone contacts with the Mining Company's CEO or the company's consultants, most of which she initiated. JA 7:1564-1570. During this same time,

Commissioner Keller was contacting and meeting with the Mining Company to obtain reimbursement for the Kellers' expenses under their personal contract with the Mining Company. JA 5:1246-1248.

The day before the hearing on the Mining Company's application (January 1, 2014, a holiday), Commissioner Keller was particularly active, having 16 calls with the Mining Company representatives. JA 7:1568-1570. Commissioner Keller herself initiated all but three of these contacts. Id. During the days before the hearing, Commissioner Keller also had significant telephone contact with Commission Chairman Mortenson and Commissioner Hastings (nine contacts in two days). Id. While Commissioner Keller worked the phones, the Mining Company representatives met with Commissioners Fierro, Mortenson, Keller and Hastings, to, in the words of the Mining Company's representative, "propose options" to resolve concerns regarding the Mining Company's application. CRA I, Dkt. 16-02096 (Recording CMI #1) at 23:09, (CMI #1) at 15:53 (Commissioner Fierro disclosing December 30, 2013 meeting with the Mining Company's representative to discuss application); (CMI #1) at 16:52 (Commissioner Mortenson disclosing he also met with the Mining Company as did Commissioner Fierro); (CMI #1) at 17:00 (Commissioner Hastings disclosing contacts with the Mining Company). Citizens were not included in these conversations. As candidly admitted by the Mining Company, the compromise worked out in these private calls and meetings the days

before the public meeting "was the result of some Commissioners talking about is there an opportunity for some sort of [reduction in the scope of the Mining Company's Application]." *CRA I*, Dkt 16-02096 (CMI #1) 47:38. That is, the Commissioners deliberated on an agendized item before the public hearing.

More specifically, the compromise worked out was a map that was circulated to and discussed serially by a majority of commissioners outside a public meeting. On December 30, 2013, the Mining Company met with Commissioner Fierro to discuss his concerns with the Mining Company's application. *CRA I*, Dkt 16-02096 (Commissioner Fierro disclosure). Then, on December 31, 2013, the Mining Company sent Commissioner Fierro a map of the parcels of concern. JA 4:0956. Commissioner Keller thereafter received the map (JA 5:1114) and provided it, on January 1, 2014, to Commissioner Mortenson in person (JA 5:1063-1066). *See also* JA 4:0951. Later that day, the Mining Company sent to the County Manager the "compromise" proposal worked out in these serial meetings. JA 6:1259.

The next day, on Commissioner Keller's motion, the Commissioners voted to approve the Mining Company's revised land use application, allowing mining uses in areas that, through its master planning process, the County had prohibited for over 40 years. JA 4:0954. During the discussion of the Mining Company's application, the County Commissioners refused to consider the impacts of the proposed mining use on Silver City despite the findings by their own staff that such impacts existed.

Compare CRA I, Dkt. 16-02096 (CMI#1) at 46:17, 52:23, 49:58 (Commissioners asserting that legally they could only consider residential "allowable" uses not the new mining "special" uses) with JA 4:0860 (Lyon County staff report stating, "[t]he future potential for mineral exploration and attraction operations should be considered for the requested master plan amendment and concurrent zone change requests.").

Citizens thereafter sued. JA 1:1.

C. Prior Judicial Proceedings

As characterized by the Supreme Court, Citizens, "petitioned for judicial review on the grounds that: (1) [Lyon County] violated CRA's due process rights, (2) [Lyon County] violated open meeting laws, (3) [Lyon County] abused its discretion, and (4) [Lyon County] violated NRS 278.220(4)'s requirement to wait and review the Planning Commission report before taking final action." *CRA I*, Dkt. 16-37327 at 2; JA 1:0030-0033.

Defendants moved to dismiss the OML, Due Process, and NRS 278.220 claims. JA 1:0071. After briefing, the District Court granted that motion in part and denied in part. JA 1:0107. The District Court then denied Citizens' abuse of discretion and NRS 278.220 claims after briefing on its merits. JA 4:0617. Citizens thereafter appealed both orders. See *CRA I*, Dkt. 16-37327 at 2.

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