IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

COMSTOCK RESIDENTS ASSOCIATION; and JOE McCARTHY, Electronically Filed Mar 09 2022 10:49 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 83463

Appellants,

Appeal from Third Judicial Dist. Court Case No. 14-CV-00128

v.

LYON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS; and COMSTOCK MINING INCORPORATED,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT COMSTOCK MINING INCORPORATED'S <u>ANSWERING BRIEF</u>

JAMES R. CAVILIA, ESQ. State Bar No. 3921 JUSTIN M. TOWNSEND, ESQ. State Bar No. 12293 **ALLISON MACKENZIE, LTD.** 402 North Division Street Carson City, NV 89703 (775) 687-0202

Attorneys for Respondent, Comstock Mining Incorporated

//

//

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court, in its sound discretion, properly awarded attorney's fees to the Board and to CMI under NRS 18.010(2) because the Board and CMI were the prevailing parties on every one of CRA's claims, they recovered less than \$20,000, and CRA brought and maintained this action without reasonable grounds. Additionally, or in the alternative, the District Court properly awarded attorney's fees under NRS 278.0237, which authorizes such an award in actions, like this one, brought under NRS 278.0233.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

CRA blatantly asserts the wrong standard of review for this appeal. De novo review is, unquestionably, not the standard of review in this matter. It is well settled in Nevada "an award of attorney fees [is reviewed] for an abuse of discretion." <u>Las Vegas Review-Journal v. City of Henderson</u>, 500 P.3d 1271, 1276, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 81 (2021).

ARGUMENT

A. Legal Authority Supports an Award of Fees In this Case.

As a general rule, "attorney fees cannot be recovered as a cost of litigation unless authorized by agreement, statute or rule." <u>Sandy Valley Associates v. Sky</u> Ranch Estates Owners Ass'n, 117 Nev. 948, 956, 35 P.3d 964, 969 (2001)

7

<u>abrogated</u> on other grounds. CMI contends that attorney's fees should be awarded in this case pursuant to NRS 278.0237 and NRS 18.010.

CRA filed claims in this action arising out of the Board's land use decision involving CMI's Application for a master plan amendment and zone change. CRA argued the decision of the Board was arbitrary and capricious, and sought judicial review of the Board's decision. See Paragraphs 123-131 of the Complaint; JA Vol. 1 at 0032-0033. The Supreme Court has recognized that NRS 278.0233 provides a basis for judicial review of an agency decision on grounds the decision was arbitrary and capricious. Redrock Valley Ranch, LLC v. Washoe County, 127 Nev. 451, 455-45, 254 P.3d 641, 644 (2011). Just because NRS 278.3195(4) also authorizes judicial review of the Board's decision does not divest the District Court or this Court from concluding CRA's action was an action brought under NRS 278.0233. See NRS 278.0235, providing the mechanism for initiating an action authorized by NRS 278.0233 and which is referenced by NRS 278.3195(4). Judicial review implicates both NRS 278.0233 and 278.3195(4). NRS 278.0237(2) specifically authorizes an award of reasonable attorney's fees, court costs and interest to the prevailing party in a judicial review action brought under NRS 278.0233. Therefore, the District Court's award was properly given.

Additionally, NRS 18.010(2) provides that "the court may make an allowance of attorney's fees to a prevailing party" under one of two circumstances;

8

first, where "the prevailing party has not recovered more than \$20,000;" and second, where the "court finds that the claim...of the opposing party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party." NRS 18.010(2)(a) & (b). NRS 18.010(2) applies to CRA's vexatious claims for open meeting law violations, violations of due process, and violations of provisions of NRS Chapter 278.

The District Court is required to construe the provisions of NRS 18.010(2)(b) liberally and award fees in all appropriate situations in an effort to deter "frivolous or vexatious claims" because such claims "overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional services to the public." NRS 18.010(2)(b). As shown by the Statement of Facts set forth above, CRA brought and maintained claims for which it was unable to muster any supporting evidence for more than eight years, apparently only as a means of thwarting CMI's lawful use of its property. A more egregious example of vexatious litigation is hard to fathom.

B. CRA's Claims were Without Reasonable Ground and were Brought and Maintained for Purpose of Delay.

Attorney's fees should be awarded to CMI under NRS 18.010(2) because CMI prevailed on all four of CRA's claims and CRA's claims were vexatious and caused significant and undue delay in the ability to realize the effect of the Board's decision to approve CMI's Application.

CRA filed this action in an effort to invalidate the Board's approval of CMI's Application. The Board's action on CMI's Application was taken in a public meeting in January 2014, more than eight years ago. The vehicle for such a challenge is a petition for judicial review under the provisions of NRS Chapter 278. <u>See Redrock Valley Ranch, LLC, supra</u>. Judicial review of land use planning decisions is meant to provide a speedy remedy. <u>Kay v. Nunez</u>, 122 Nev. 1100, 1104, 146 P.3d 801, 805 (2006).

In this case, CRA asserted four claims for relief rather than just a simple petition for judicial review. In addition to judicial review, CRA asserted claims its rights were violated under the open meeting law, constitutional due process mandates, and the requirements of NRS 278.220(4).

Based at least in part on the law set forth in <u>Redrock Valley</u> and <u>Kay</u>, the Board and CMI moved to dismiss all of CRA's claims except for its petition for judicial review. The District Court granted the motion to dismiss and CRA subsequently appealed. Both the District Court and the Nevada Supreme Court noted that CRA had failed to allege sufficient facts to support a claim for violation of the open meeting law and that the record confirmed there was no violation of NRS 278.220. On judicial review of the Board's approval of the Application, the District Court found that the Board's decision was based on substantial evidence. The Supreme Court agreed, specifically noting that while the Board was only required to make any one of five permissible findings, it had actually found all five.

The Supreme Court did, however, remand CRA's due process claim for further proceedings, in order to allow CRA to attempt to prove the factual allegations it had made in support of the due process claim. On remand, the District Court entered an order, on February 13, 2018, allowing CRA to conduct discovery on the issue of whether CMI had improperly influenced two members of the Board such that CRA's due process rights were violated. To that point, four years after filing its Complaint, CRA had conducted no discovery.

Following a period of discovery in which CRA conducted written discovery and depositions, the parties submitted final briefs to the District Court for a decision on the merits of CRA's due process claim. CRA submitted a brief in which it could point to no evidence it had discovered or to any legal authority to support its due process claim. The District Court entered final judgment on CRA's due process claim and found that CMI and the Board had followed all applicable laws in relation to the approval of CMI's Application. The District Court found that CRA had "not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that [CRA] were denied due process." June 11, 2019 Order; JA Vol. 7 at 1685-1686. In other words, CRA had discovered nothing in more than five years of litigation to support its allegations of due process violations.

All of the foregoing conclusively shows that CRA's claims were brought without reasonable ground. Further, CRA's litigation tactics and improper and unfounded claims delayed CMI's ability to use its property as approved by the Board on January 2, 2014. For these reasons, the District Court's award of attorney's fees to CMI was proper, under NRS 18.010(2).

CRA's claims to have presented credible evidence in support of its claims should be rejected. CRA did not present credible evidence or credible legal arguments in support of any of its claims.

Regarding its petition for review of the Board's approval of CMI's Application, CRA falsely equates the evidence presented to the Board in opposition to CMI's application with evidence in support of its petition for judicial review. The question here is not whether CRA presented any credible evidence in opposition to CMI's application in public hearings before the Board. The question is, instead, whether CRA had any evidentiary basis to support a claim in this case that the Board's decision to approve the application was not based on substantial evidence.

As the Supreme Court has already noted in this matter, neither the Court nor the Supreme Court were "permitted to reweigh the evidence to reach a different

12

result." <u>See</u> Order Affirming in Part, Reversing in Part, and Remanding, Supreme Court Case No. 68433 (Dec. 2, 2016). That the Board's decision to approve CMI's application was based on substantial evidence was clear from the start and CRA had no legal or evidentiary means of persuading the District Court or the Supreme Court to conclude that the Board's action lacked substantial evidentiary support.

Regarding its open meeting law claims, CRA's argument is that a single Supreme Court justice dissented from the majority opinion that upheld dismissal of the claim. CRA's open meeting law claims were based on an argument that members of the Board deliberated on CMI's application outside of a public meeting, but CRA failed to produce any evidence of such deliberations or of any serial gatherings equating to a quorum of the Board. The Supreme Court specifically noted that CRA had failed to even allege the necessary factual elements of an open meeting law claim.

CRA's open meeting law claim was also based on allegations of a deficient agenda, where the ultimate decision was to approve CMI's application as to a reduced amount of acreage from what was noted on the agenda. The Supreme Court noted, again, that CRA could prove no set of facts to support the idea that a reduction in the described acreage would constitute a valid claim that the agenda was deficient. There was neither factual nor legal basis, therefore, for any portion of CRA's open meeting law claim. Regarding CRA's claim that its rights under NRS 278.220(4) were violated, the Supreme Court concluded that the record clearly showed that the procedures required thereby had been met. CRA's arguments on this claim lacked any merit whatsoever and neither the District Court nor the Supreme Court gave them any credence.

Lastly, in arguing that it presented credible evidence in support of its due process claim, CRA attempts merely to relitigate the claim. The District Court and the Supreme Court (three times, including the denial of CRA's petitions for rehearing and en banc reconsideration) flatly rejected all of CRA's arguments and emphatically found CRA had failed to present evidence to support a due process violation. Again, in more than five years of litigation (now going on more than eight) CRA discovered nothing to support its allegations of due process violations.

C. CMI Presented <u>Brunzell</u> factors, which were Properly Accepted by the District Court.

The Supreme Court, in <u>Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat. Bank</u>, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969), set forth four factors courts must consider when determining an amount of fees to award:

(1) the qualities of the advocate: his ability, his training, education, experience, professional standing and skill; (2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the litigation; (3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention given to the work; (4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.

CMI set forth facts supporting a finding in its favor as to each of these factors, supported by the affidavits of counsel appearing on behalf of CMI. JA Vol. 7 at 1656-1661. The District Court, in its July 30, 2021 Order Granting Defendants' Motion for Attorneys' Fees, expressly adopted the reasoning and factual assertions of CMI's counsel, under <u>Brunzell</u>, in awarding all fees requested.

An award of \$203,151.47 to CMI, considering the length of this litigation, three full appeals, and the fact that CMI prevailed in absolutely every facet hereof is more than reasonable. Again, CMI has incurred yet more fees since filing the Motion for Attorneys' Fees on August 1, 2019.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, CMI respectfully request this Court affirm the District Court's award of attorney's fees.

||| ||| ||| |||